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35 been called the “road fo
‘dreams.” Perhaps, though, its
niles of unexcelled scenic gran-
ove fulfilled the desires, the
it longing for @ contact with
8 wilderness, even the dreams
Iy thousands who haove passed
i often twisting, ever-changing
‘Here is its story; the decision

the Road
§ hove existed across the Sierra
e first large mammals came
ds of thousands of years ago.
| animals — sheep, deer and
iar — still move up and down
ron slopes to find tender young
as snowlines recede. Others
pver the passes seeking salt.
\uir noted thot especially in
‘and inaccessible terrain the
if "white men, Indians, bear,
gep, etc., be found converging
est ploces.” (1)
‘fo appear were the pedestrian
. whose midden piles near El
how evidences of transsierran
fam at least as early as 2,500
indians did not travel for plea-
ir purpose was trode. Acorns,
‘beads, paint ingredients, ar-
id baskets were troded by the
se Miwoks for the Eastern
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10GA ROAD

A HISTORY

by Keith A. Trexler, Junior Park Naturalist

Mono's pine nuts, pandera moth larvae,
fly pupae, baskets, rabbit and buffaio
robes, salt and obsidian, Finds of these
materials, not native west of the Sierra,
help us trace the early Indion paths.
Numerous highways of today, and the
Tioga Rood, follow these aboriginal
trade routes. (3)

The Mono trail, an Indian footpath
from Crane Flat, through Tamarack
Flat via Tenaya Laoke to Tusclumne
Meadows, was used by the first party
of non-Indians to pass through what
is now Yosemite National Park, Joseph
Reddeford Walker and his party trek-
king over the Sierra, probably used the
Indian pathway, evident even though
many parts were covered with snow,
The group endured great hardships
and took over @ month to make the
crossing from Bridgeport Valley to the
San Joaquin. They were undoubtedly
the first Eurcpeans to see the Giant
Sequoios. (4, 5)

Mo records of man's use of the trails
exist for the next 19 years. In 1852
Ist Lt. Tredwell Moore and his troop-
ers of the 2nd Infantry, pursued o
group of Indions wanted for the death
of two prospectors in Yosemite Valley,
to Tenaya Lake and from there over
the Mono trail to Bloody Canyen. Dur-
ing the trip Moore noticed rich-looking
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sutcrops and brought bock samples of
gold to Mariposa. Among those who
sow Moore's samples was Leray Vin-
ing, of whom we shall hear more later.
(5] Moore's expedition reparts inter-
ested Jomes M. Hutchings in bringing
the first tourists into the Yosemite Val-
ley, and, according to Brockman, "'pub-
lic interast in mining opporfunities east
of the Sierra was kindled, resulting in
the development and use of a trail in
1857, from Big Oak Flat through the
Tenaya Laoke-Tuclumne Meadows re-
gion. This route approximated the old
Mono Indian Troil and was forerunner
of the present Tioga Road.” (6]

In 1852 Leroy (or Lee] Vining led a
group of prospectors over the Sierra via
Bloody Canyon and generally explored
the region. Although Vining settled in
what is now Lee Vining Canyon he op-
parently did no mining. Insteaod he
homesteaded obout two miles up-can-
yon from the present power plant and
built @ sawmill, thus being the first
to settle in the Mono area. For a time
he supplied lumber to the eastside
mining camps, but his coreer ended
in an Aurora saloon where he accident-
ally shot and killed himself. (8]

Although no rush followed Lt
Moore’s discoveries, there was in 1857
an exodus from the Tuclumne mines ta
the Degtown and Monoville settle-
ments near Mono Lake.(5) Much of
the old Mono Trail was used by the
gold-seekers and the route was well
blazed and cleared by Tom MeGee
"following very closely the old foot
trail”, Bunnell maokes the point that
Indian trails were unfit for pock ani-
mals. He felt they “hod been purpose-
Iy run over ground impassible to horses,

(¥l 9

The early 1860s saw the coming of
Josiah D. Whitney of the California
Geological Survey. His description of
the headwaters of the Tuclumne were
published in 1845, with Tioga Pass
(which he called Maclane's) being
noted as &00° lower than the present
route (Mono Pass) and perhaps a bet-
ter transcontinental route, (10}

In the summer of 1858 a party from
Mono Loke, including o woman and
baby, wisited Yosemite Valley. This
group, perhaps the first to use the
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Tioga route purely for pleasure, jg
neyed over the Sierra vig Tuolun|
Meadows and Tenaya Lake, taking 1
Coulterville Trail to Yosemite Vall|
{11) Other evidence indicates t
the Mono Trail wos being used
tourist trovel, especially by hikers fr
Yosemite Valley heading for Tuaolu
Meadows. (12}

John Muir's first visit to this s
tacular country was in 1869 with
band of sheep. In traveling to
Meadows John and his charges foll
ed the general course of the pre
Tioga Road. (13). In the same
J. H. Soper and E. G. Field with
blankets and a "supply of crackers
sardines’’ hiked over Mone Pass,
o sheepherder (Muir?) in the Mead
and followed the trail out to Coul
ville, (14)

By 1870 railroads had come to w
in a few miles of the west end of
Mono trail. In 1871 Copperopolis
a terminus of the lines from San Fr
cisco. Travel to Yosemite Valley
increasing. Mare than likely wvisi
tock side trips over the trail to T
umne but no records exist of t
trials and tribulations. The Big
Flat Road reached Crocker's in |
and Yosemite Valley in 1874, but
there was no road to the Yosemite
country. (7) An economic boost
needed.

The Mines

Although Lt. Moore's discove
excited the Mariposa miners, not
in the way of true mines seeme
come from the reports. Early in |
a prospecting party consisting o
justice of the peace, an ex-sea capt
g surveyor, a dentist and a profe
was prospecting in the Bloody Can
area. The dentist, George W. "D
Chase, remaorked, while camped
Tioga Pass, that if they could
spend one more day in the area
could locate ard claim “'the big
silver ledge ever discovered.”” The
day he placed a flattened tin can,
which he had scrotched the locat
rotice with his knife, on Tiogo
The ore he carried out was never
sayed as he and his partners arri
at Monoville just when the Aur
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8 waos made. Each mode money
iBne ever returned to the “thun-
{;:g? silver ledge’” on Tioga
]

@ 15 vyears later, William
, Jr., while herding his father's
found o rusty pick and shovel
Flattened tin can, on which he
make out, "Notice, we the
q::d” and the date 1860.
g heard of the lost mine, Brusky
ire samples to his fother, who
' therm and pronounced them
Mess. Young Brusky did not dis-
ge easily. The next summer he
@ small hole in the ledge and
Wed some better looking ore,’ It
until 1877 that an assay found

to be rich in silver.

s were not actually made until
when nine were established and
libga mining district organized.
g "‘city” of Dana, site of the
1 Sierra Mine, wos given a post
B in 1880. (16) In 1881 the Great
i Consolidated Silver Company
peed with eastern capital, bought
I claims on Tioga Hill and started
Ny o tunnel destined to go 1784

grra Mine Cabin, Tiega Hill

feet into the mountain, but never to
produce pay dirt. {15)

On February 25, 1882 the Great
Sierra Tunnel was begun by twelve
miners working three 8-hour shifts.
Soon it was evident that drilling ma-
chinery would be needed. (17} This was
purchased and shipped to Lundy, cn
the east side of the Sierra. The Homer
Mining Index reported: “The transpor-
tation of 16,000 |bs. of machinery
across one of the highest and most
rugged branches of the Sierrg Nevada
mountains in mid-winter wnere no
roads exist, over vast fields and huge
embankments of yielding snow and in
the foce of furious windstorms laden
with drifting snow, and the mercury
dancing attendance on zero, is g task
calculated to appall the sturdiest
mountaineer; yet J. C. Kemp, manager
of the Great Sierra Consclidated Silver
Co. is now engaged in such an under-
taking, and with every prospect of suc-
cess at an early day—so complete has
been the arrangement of details and so
intelligently directed is every move-
ment. The first ascent, from Mill
Creek to the mouth of Lake Canyon,
is 990 feet, almost perpendicular. From




that point fo the south end of Loke
Oneido, o distance of gbout two miles,
is a rise of 845 feet, most of it in two
hills aggregating half a mile in dis-
tance. 1%1& rmachinery will probably be
hoisted straight up to the summit of
Mount Warren ridge from the south-
west shore of Lake Oneida, an almost-
vertical rise of 2,160 feet. From the
summit the descent will be made to
Saddlebags Lake, thence down to and
along Lee Vining Creek to the gap or
pass in the dividing point to tunnel, o
distance of about one mile, is a rise of
800 feet, most of it in the first guar-
ter of a mile.

“The machinery consists of an en-
gine, boiler, air compressor, |ngersoll
drills, iron pipe, etc. for use in driving
the Great Sierra tunnel It is being
transported on six heavy sleds admir-
ably constructed of hardwood. An-
other, or rather a paoir of bobsleds ac-
companies the expedition, the latter
being laden with bedding, provisions,
cooking utensils, etc, The heaviest load
iz 4,200 |bs. Ten or 12 men, two mules,
4500 feet of one-inch manilo rops,
heavy double block and tackle and
all the available trees along the route
are employed in snaking the machinery
up the mountain. The whole being
under the immediate supervision of
Mr, Kemp, who remains at the front
and personally directs every move-

Machinery Houled Owver the Smow in [1882;
Great Sierra Tunnel at Right.

rment. |t is expected that all sleds w
be gat up into Lake Canyon today, of
then the work will be pushed day af
night, with two shifts of men."

It took Kemp and his men mare th
two months, from March 4 until May
to move the gight tons o distance
about nine miles. |t is said that Kem|
remark at the end of the back-break|
fask was, "If's no wonder that m
arow ald!" (15)

The meochinery was installed a
put to work immediately upon its
rival at the mine. Meanwhile,
March 13, 1882, o post office h
been established ot Bennettville, co
pany headquarters. (1480 Mine
swarmed to the aren. More than 3
claims were located in the Tiogo [
trict alone. Bennettville was touf
as an excellent location with am
room  for 50,000 inhabitants,
obundant water supply and invig
ating climate. (17)

Other claims were faund. The M
Lundy about 10 miles north of Tif
produced 3 million, though the Gold
Crown, Mt Hotfman ond Mi G
groups followed the Great Sierro
ample, (15a) In 1881 the Sierra T
graph Co. built o line from Lund
Yosemite Valley via Bennettville |

On July 3, 1884 the boom
over, A finonciol “erisis" oecosia
the Great Sierra’s Executive Com
tee to suspend all operations and
Dona City and Bennettville joined
silent ranks of fabled western g
towns. Although more than 3300
had been spent, as best we know
ore ever left the Sheepherder for
ing- (15}* But a road hod been |

The Great Sierra Wagon Road

Expectations of success and n
for large quantities of supplies cou
with the near.disaster af haouling
ing machinery over the snow led
Great Sierra Board of Directors t
sider the building of g wagon ro
the mines, Although trail routes
been established to the eastern
roads via Lundy and Bloody Car
the new rood was to cross the 5
from the west with goods to be ha

{*For the complete story of the min
Dougliss H. Hubbard's Ghost Min

Yosemite, )
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the railheod ot Copperopolis via
I8 Qaok Flat Road. Civil Engineer
Lerd in 1881 estimated the total
p build a road from near Crane
i the mines at $17,000. (27)
the fall of 1882 the company
e go-ahead and Charles N.
¥ was assigned as engineer with
i C. Priest as his assistant. Both
ifvey and construction began at
. B. Carpenter and H. P. Medli-
nducted the road land railroad!
with @ Mr. Hall and John V.
il o5 chainmen. In addition to
8 the rood survey the group was
'::r line for a railroad "'to make
irtest and most direct route from
it to Son Francisco.” Years lo-
pass wos considered for part of
len Pacific route, (23)
gly of 1882 the California and
ité Short Line Railroad had been
ated in Sacramento to run
desto to Mono Valley via "'old
g Creek or Mclean Pass" with
incipal place of business, Ben-
lle, Tiogo Mining District.” J, C.
Won Eee, C. W. Curtis, O. H.
Bnd R, W. Woolard, all of the
Sierra Consolidated Silver Co.,
ted the company with £5 milllon
ock with $250,000 actually
sed. Colifornia and Yosemite
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End of the Great Sierrs Wagon Road, Bennattville, 1898

Short Line Railroad monies provided
supplies, via Lundy, for the survey
crew. (28)

The survey party advanced ta White
Walf before snowfall, Work was re-
sumed the spring of '82, and Ticga
Pass was reached in July. The Bodie
Daily Free Press noted that “Engineer
Carpenter's . . . survey (was completed)
for the California and Yosemite Short
Line Railroad from MclLean's Pass . .
to Mono Lake Valley” on July 20. (19)
In August the Free Pregss commented on
the fate of Tuolumne Meadows' hos-
pitable hermit, John Lembert: "MNow,
however, the spirit of eivilization in the
person of John L. Ginn, Chief Engineer
of the Yosemite Short Line Roilroad,
has planted the survey stakes of a rail-
road line within a hundred feet of the
hermit’s door, and it is a mere matter
of time when his lonely reveries will be
broken by the “shrill whistle of the
lacomotive.” (20) Chainman John Fer-
retti recalls meeting John Lembert who
was living in a hut that to him “locked
more like a bear trap than a place for
human habitation” over Soda Springs.
Ferretti was somewhat awed by the
hermit but found him friendly, though
saddened by the odvent of the road.

Another incident recalled by Ferretti
concerns one of the survey party's
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mules. vvhlle
Creek the mules had
by bears and one ”hud shpped fntu 1hu
little stream and hung itself.” Later,
on the return trip, Ferretti found the
construction gang caomped in the same
spot with the dead mule still in the
creek only o few feet upstream from
their water point.

After completing the survey through
Tinge Pass the surveyors tied in the
mine locations and disbanded. John
Ferretti joined the construction gang
os a blacksmith's helper and general
roustabout. His pay was augmented by
pies, cakes and cookies slipped to him
by Sing Lee, the comp cook. John's
final act on the job included splitting
his big toe with an axe. The ''first aid
man' applied "'a lorge chew of to-
bacco, took a rag and tied it up, guar-
anteeing that it would be as good as
new in a few days. At that moment . . .
| severed my connection with the Tioga
Road for all time.” (21)

Construction progressed at on awe-
some rate. Mearly one-half mile of
finished road was turned out by the
160 man crew for each day on fthe
job. (22) The fall of ‘82 saw the road
advance from Crocker’s to as far as
the present park boundary, about two
miles. (21} On April 27, 1883 work waos
resumed “‘and it was carried forward
without interruption or accident until
finally completed September 4th,
1883." In 130 days the 56V mile
strefch wos completed ot o cost of
561,095.22, or about 1,100 per mile.

From the columns of the August 11
Homer Mining Index we learn of con-
struction progress and methods. “The
Great Sierra Wogon Road is rapidly
approaching completion. Harry Medli-
cott's groders from this side have
reached the upper end of Tuolumne
Meadows, while Priest’s pick and
shovel brigade from the other side are
on Rocky Canyen Creek, leaving o gap
between of little more than three miles,
all of which is easy grading. Priest's
powder gang, following the picks and
shovels, reached Lake Tenaya Thurs-
day and will skip the heavy blasting
glong the margin of the lake for the
present and follow up to the Tuclumne
River, after which one hundred blasters

3é

John ¥. Ferreth

will be put on to finish the th
fourths of a mile along the lake. |
believed that freight wagons will reg
Tioga by or before the end of
month. The construction of this
was a stupendous and costly und
taking and the Eastern caopitalists
whose enterprise and public spirit
people of this county and coast are
debted for a great thoroughfare t
hitherto inaccessible but rich and
tensive region, deserve to be remd
bered with gratitude.”

According to one report (24) +
were 20 white men and 250 Chi
in the employ of the company.
other alludes to 250 men (21) any
third o 160 man crew of Chinese.
are certain that at least 35 Chin
were at work on the Tioga Rood
‘83 as a receipt for their hospital |
paid for by the Roaod company,
part of the Yosemite Museurm coll
tions (26). Pay rates were phenome
the Chinese received $1.20 per
the Caucasians $1.50. (25) The fq
man, Jomes Lumsden of Big Oak F
was most pleased when his wage
gdvanced from $1.75 to $2.00 per
in recognition of his maoking “chan
of his own accord which the surve
afterwards said were more practicy
In addition all hands were suppl
with excellent board. (24)

Soon after the Greot Sierra Waf
Road wos completed, "o big jollif
tion was held in Sonora” with mi
prominent men of the day in atf
dance. (24) The road was built!

Y osEy|



o e e for the
was It ever u the purpose
ch it was buil? Pmbaglv pnut.
gords survive 1o prove the point,
15 known that no ore was ever
gd out of the mines and special
iment purchosed for use in the
Rerder tunnel never got beyond
ancisco where it was sold ot
' after the mines haod closed.
Bst's report of August 4, 1884,
glear from snow and being re-
|l leads us to believe at least
‘of the Great Sierra Silver Com-
% business was conducted over the
(43) The last mention of the
in company records is dated
Uctober 1884, more than three
Ihs ofter cessation of ocperations at
Mines. "The road is in very good
tlon and will proabably remain so
i the winter and spring. Cross
b5 have been put in all the way
._Eennettvﬂle ta Crockers, and |
51,000 expended next year after
oW is gone will put it in as good
ipe as ever,” (44)
Whough technically a toll route,

he O1d Tiogo Rood, About 1899

no collection gates ever were set up
and the rood was used frequently by
tourists, Army troopers and stockmen.
Little mention is mode of the physical
condition of the road until 1894 when
the Hamer Mintng Index informed its
readers, "A man who recently came
over the Great Sierra wagon road re-
ports it to be in execrable condition.
It should be kept in toleroble condition
if the company wishes to hold it; but,
os a matter of real fact, it should be-
long to the Government and be kept
in prime order, as an eastern outlet to
Yosemite Park.” (45)

However poor its surface, the Great
Sierra Waogon Read was being used
One party remarked, “The road is very
raugh in places, but is not impassable,
They recommended o light wagon be
used in attempting the route, (48)
Another group reported “fallen trees
and washed-cut roads had bothered us
many times . . | but in no cose had
done more damage to us than to short-
en our day's journey by five or ten
miles.” Their method of travel included
unhitching the horses and transporting



venient trees. (47) T

Official reports decried the condi-
tion of the road, intimating it was
something less than a footpath, and a
difficult one at that. (32, 52, 56) Re-
plies from the attorneys of the owners,
though admitting the road had not
been kept in excellent condition, main-
tained thot it wos passable for its en-
tire length by wagons and horse travel-
lers. {33) This war of words continued
for more than a quarter century.

The Army superintendents were es-
pecially vocal. Captain A. E. Wood
started the ball rolling in his first re-
port (1891) saying that although trees
were down across the road and that it
was badly washed in places it made
"a good mounted trail, and as such
is of much importance.” (48) Later
reports reiterate and expand upon
Captain Wood's observations, and, in
addition, urge the Intericr Department
to purchase the rights to the route.
{49, 50, 51) It was noted that “The
foundation shows excellent work, in-
tended to be permanent.” (50)

In 1896 a bill authorizing purchase
of toll reads within the park was con-
sidered by the House but did not get
to the floor for a vote. (58) The next
year the cost of repairing the “ex-
tremely out of repair” rood was esti-
mated at $10,000. (51) Two vears
later o bill was introduced in Congress
to authorize surveys for a new road
from Yosemite Valley to Mono Lake
which apparently duplicated the Tiogo
Rood which was then considered im-
passible. (60) The Acting Superinten-
dent in 1898 was of the opinion that
the rood was government property by
default. “This is not o tell road and
never has been; it has been abandoned
by the builders for more than twenty
years; if they ever had any rights they
lost them by abandonment. The east-
ern half of the road is in such bad
condition as to be hardly a good trail.
| consider the Tioga Road the most
important kighway in the Park.” (58]

By 1899 enough interest hod been
generated that the Army was directed
to clear the road for a Congressional
commission inspecticn. Their report

38

Bk

and the width from 10 to 20 feet.
road, however, was skillfully laid
and it may safely be said that
of it hos a grade of only about 3 p
cent . . . " It was "exceedingly

built, the bridges having fine sto
abutments, and there is a particula
well-built section of sea wall along t
shore of Lake Tenaiya.™ Maost of t
original surfacing was gone ond t
road was obstructed in numero
places by fallen trees. "It appears t
na work in the way of maintena
has been done by the owner of f
road for a number of years, thou
sorme slight work has been done
campers traveling over it."” The co
missioners estimated the cost of cd
structing a similar road to be $58,00
though the criginal outloy was fou
to be %461,095.22. Their final asse
ment was that the road was in fi
condition, that its value was $57,0
that $2.000 would suffice to put
road in eriginal conditien and thaot
Federal Government should purchg
the roaod os soon as procticable. (3

Fate, most likely in the form of
sinking of the battleship Maine, int
ceded and though the bill was read
the House, it was never passed. (]
A second bill was proposed in 1901
purchase all toll roads within the P
for $208,000, and it too failed
passage. (57)

In 1902 the Secretary of the Inter
appointed a second committee to s
vey the Park’s tall roads. They, li
their predecessors, urged immedid
government contral of all park roc
{61) Superintendents’ reports for |
vears following upheld the committe
views, with one exception — Ma
W. T. Littebrant in 1913, in o notal
example of short-sightedness, felt t
trails and mules would be suffici
for park administration for the fo
seeable future! (62)

fn 1911 the Sierra Club Bulld
under the heading "Qld Tioga R
to be Acquired,” noted that "
Government brought suit . . . to
demn an unused toll road . . . to ma
it part of the new system of rof

Yosem



i Yosemite Mational Park
BN, Swift . . . is named as de-
It (63)

"of the most telling comments
§ condition of the rood is con-
lin a 1912 letter fram Major
tForsythe, Acting Superintendent
P park, to the Secretary of the
BF. '‘Severc| wagons passed over
Bd last summer, . . . but also last
@gr | had fo order o gratuitous
of rations to a destitute family
jere moving by wageon across the
rom the east side by the Ticga
because their team became
ited on occount of the difficult
and their food supply gove out
| they could get through. (64)
jat of the owner's side of the
Befare answering we might wel|
38 did Yosemite's acting superin-
it in 1913, "who were the own-
85) At a Mono County sheritf's
1888 W. C. M. Swift, aos rrustee,
Bged the entire properties of the
Sierra Consolidated Silver Com-

or 5167,050, (15) For an oddi-
No. 3, 1961

MArmy Troopers Paotrolled the Tiogo Hoad for 25 Years

tional $10, Swift cbtained the Tioga
Road toll franchise frem W. C
Priest, (31) who remained in charge of
the road. (66) The mine properties and
road were sold for taxes in 1895 to
Rudolphus M. Swift; and remained the
property of his heirs until 1915, (&67)
All during this period the firm of Wil-
son and Wilson hondled the offoirs of
the rood's owners. Through them we
hear the "owner's side of the story.”

Immedigtely after Captain A. E.
Wood's initial blast, Wilson and Wil-
son offered to the Secretary of the In-
terior an affidavit from Road Superin-
tendent Priest. “"That said road is
about 20 feet wide on an average and
that teams may poss with convenience,
with few exceptions, throughout the
entire length of said road, and that in
the opinion of this deponent said road
is the best road that has ever been built
on the Western Slope of the Sierra
Mevada . . " (68) The battle is joined!

Wilson and Wilson's tenor was not
so positive some four years later. They
noted that the rood hod not been
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. upon the road."”

have been kept in repair hod o road
been completed down the eastern side
of the Sierra. (59) "If and when that
eastern portion is completed the own-
ers intend to resume the collection of
tolls.” The law firm urged the United
Stotes to purchase all the toll roads
in the Park and was of the opinion that
this would have already been done
“but for the extreme difficulty of in-
ducing Congress to spend mongy on
any new project, especiolly one which
necessitates a regular annual expendi-
ture for maintenance.” (69}

In answer to charges that since tolls
were not being collected the rood be-
longed to the government by default,
Allen Webster pointed out that the
owners had spent thousands of dollars
in repairs and that toll gates were not
erected because of light travel. (70}

As the debote progressed others
were brought in to testify on behalf
of the road. Mrs. H. R. Crocker, whose
home and plece of business was
Crocker’s Station, the eastern terminus
of the rood, commented in 19207 that
there was considerable travel over the
road this season and “all are unani-
mous in its praise . . . Travelers had no
trouble in getting over the entire
length with team and heavy wagon.”
She reperted some repairs to the road,
including replacement of the Yosemite
Creek bridge which had been out for
eight years, by persons in her hire. (71)

Later correspondence from Mrs.
Crocker repeats her original points,
with the added suggestion that "some-
thing should materialize towards its
(the road's) permanent repair. ' (72, 73)

In 1908 Andrew P. Dron found the
road to Seda Springs in “excellent
condition”. He noted that two or three
bridges were out over small streams,
“but their want is not at all felt.” All
of the fallen trees are out of the road
and . . . taken as a whole | consider it
a better road as it is today without any
work on it, than the Ward's Ferry
road . . . to Groveland . . " He made

A0

s (66) It was the
attorney’s opinion that the road would

Crocker in the {ure stot
that “repair work (was done) in 19
and the road opened as usual to tra
It has been opened and traveled
tearns (both hegvy and light wago
people on horse back and pedestrid
every year since its construction
has never been closed to travel,
cept . . . when . . . blocked by snd
It is still in fair condition with the
ception of two or three places at Ld
Tenaya and Yosemite Creek . . " {

Swift's attorneys proclagimed t
cansiderable sums had been expend
on upkeep of the roads (though
documentation of the expendity
was presently available) and thot
franchizse standards, i.e. a 100 fool |
roadway, had been lawfully maintai
They cited the foct that the couni
through which the rood possed
always accepted the Company's
offerings, implying that all the frd
chise conditions were being met.
reason advanced for non-collection
tolls was that the Compony did
receive enough in returns to keep
man on ags follmaster. Their fi
opinion was that the United States
no clgim to the road except by lo
and fair purchase. (33) The suit
never pressed to completion and
debate remained unresolved  uf
1915.

Business Ventures

Scon after completion of the G
Sierra Wagon Road William C. P
of Big Qak Flat, at the request of
Directors of the Great Sierra Compa
was assioned the right to collect +
by the Counties of Mariposa, T
umne and Mono. Rates establis
were: Freight teams with two ho
$5; single horses, $1.50; passe
teams, each horse, $2.50; footmen,
horse and rider, %2; pack ani
$1.50; loose horses and cattle,
sheep and goats, $10c each. (29
congressman quoted the rotes as wi
ing out to 3¢ per person per
comparing, favorably with the 3 |
on the Big Oak Flat Road, 3¢ on
Coulterville and 2c on the Waw

Yosem
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{30) No records exist of toll
8 The swift heirs, sutcessors
st by W, C, N, Swift's purchase
@ toll franchise in 1888 for $10,
ated that though considerable
uhnd been spent on upkeep of the
‘rm tolls had ever been collected.

Mer enterprises were maore profit-
B Since the early 1880°s H. R.
ket had operated "Crocker’s Sierra
W' stoge stop on the Big Ook Flat
| just west of the present park
Btlary: Mr. Crocker and his young
iWwith the help of ex-seo captoin
i 5. Crocker, provided excellent
K, clean rooms and diverse enter-
fhents to Chinese Camp and Yo-
¢ Stage Company possengers,
fle travellers, compers, and even
ins from a nearby Miwok Ranch-

Bcker's Station was construction
fllarters during the building of
Great Sierra Wagon Rood ond
I provided o comfortable stopping

for those using the road for

figss ond pleasure. Many well

| Western Portal, Crockers Statien, 1901

known names grace the Crocker regis-
ter, among them John Muir, Stewart
Edward White, Edwin Murkham and
Herbert Hoover. The resorf waos con-
stdered by many "the showplace of the
road.’ Although sold by Widow Crock-
er in 1910, the station continued to
serve the Yosemite bound “til 1920,
when several of the buildings were
moved and the rest ollowed to decay.
(34)

Some ten miles northeast leremiah
Hodgdon built, in 1879, Yosemite's
first and only two story log cabin, (34)
Unknown to Jeremiah, the cabin would
later house szome of the builders of
the Great Sierra YWagon Rood, would
provide shelter for Army Troopers pa-
tralling Yosemite Bational Parlk, {(38)
ond in the 1920's become the center of
a busy tourist stop on the Tiogo Rood
In 1931 the Aspen WValley Lodge
complex included the lodge, a roorming
house, store, goscline station, auto
repair garage, laundry, restaurant and
the old two story log homesteod cabin
in use as a storehouse. (35) A Park
entrance stafion and ronger station



Aspen Yalley Resort, 1931, (Homestead Cabin, at left, now ot Pioneer Yosemite History Center, Wy

were located nearby. With realignment
of the Tioga Road in 1937, profits
dropped and closure of the facilities
was assured when public use of the old
road was discontinued in World War
[I. Private summer homes and a log-
ging operation existed into the 1950s,
most of the land eventually becoming
gcquired  for  Park  purposes  and
the homestead cabin moved to the
Pioneer History Center ot Wawona.

Next stop on the line for the east-
bound visitor was White Wolf, named
by the Mever brothers after an Indian
chieftain whom they found camping
there. Settlement ot White Wolf prob-
ably began with crude shelters for the
Mever boys and their ronch hands.
Little is known of early developments,
but in 1930 it was reporied, "'Mrs,
Meyer is in charge of a believed-to-be
well-paying resort . . " Twelve tents,
a main building which housed a dining
room, kitchen and small store, two
taurist cabins, o power plant, and the
ubiguitous gasoline station comprised

42

the assessable property. (35) Reloe
tion of the road and the tourist hiot
of the second world war brought t
operations at White Wolf to a stor
still. After three years of very indiffi
ent lessee proprietorship, the Yosem
Park and Curry Co., in 1952, w
government purchase of the land o
facilities, acguired the concessi
rights, and the following year open
the rejuvenated unit os one of |
High Sierra Camps. 1960-17
saw the improvement, by the Natior
Park Service, of the public can
ground and access road,

Between White Wolf and Tena
Lake, o distance of nearly 20 mil
no accommodations hayve ever exisi
though camping was, and is, permit|
in designated spots along the ro
On August 1, 1878 an enterprisi
Irishman and one-time Yosemite gui
John L. Murphy, homesteaded
meadows abutting the south end
Tenaya Lake and g small portion of {
north shore. Thirty days later

Y osenr



.' for i'h! Bodie D
ted, “the loke I swarming with
, same already two feet in length.”
" Murphy was established!
'_ 1881, Archie Leorard, destined
tbecome one of Yosemites first
Wgers, put on o ten-horse saddle
In between Yosemite and Lundy.
#l Business must have been good
Leonard and Murphy as numerous
cles proclaiming the virtues of the
ﬂnd its accommodations appeared
"t e Bodie and Lundy tabloids. One
Borter opined, "'Lake Tenaya is des-
e to becorme @ watering place of
g ' (20) and Murphy's is a place
are gnod accammaodations will be
nd, where the scenery is particularly
and, picturesque and beautiful, and
but are abundant.’’ (40}
iArnother author commenting on
Where to go and what to do" gives us
) idea of what accommodations were
ke there. ""The business of accommo-
ing travelers at Tennayah has not
t reached sufficient dimensions to
farrant the establishment of a fully
hodernized hotel, Mr, Murphy has .
Wnintained a ‘stopping ploce’ . . . that
ill be found guite satisfactory to all

White Wolf, 1931

T -

. m
to please, ond That may have a more
pigquant interest to persons to whom
the shifts and devices of mountain life
are matters of some novelty,” (42}

Murphy's hospice served as a stop-
ping place for the Great Sierra Wagon
Road surveyors as well as H, L. Childs'
Bennettville to Yosemite Valley tele-
phone line construction crew. (20)
Later visitors included Helen Hunt
Jackson, John Muir and Galen Clark.
Mothing is known of the operation
from 1820 to 1916 when the Desmond
Park Company set up a tourist camp
on the site of Murphy's place. The Yo-
semite Park and Curry Co., Desmond's
successors, closed the Tenaya opera-
tions in 1938 in fover of o more iso-
fated location at May Lake, thus es-
tablishing another of the High Sierra
Camps. (39)

Although Tuclumne Meadows had
been touted as an excellent camping
spot since Lt Moore's 1852 visit, little
was done to oblige visitors to the area.
Cabins were built in the 50s and 60s
by sheepmen using the meadows for
summer pasture. (38) John Lembert's
reign as the “hermit of the Sierra"
extended over g pericd of abour 10
years during which time he offered
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Murphy's Cabin at Loke Tenaya, August 16, 18946

what hospitality and help he could to
the wayfarer and tourist. (42) Lembert
homesteoded the Soda Springs pro-
perty in 1885, (41) though he had
spent his summers there since at least
1882 and perhaps earlier. Hermit John
left the Meadows in 1890 after being
snowbound ond losing his profitoble
ongora goat herd. After Lembert's
murder at El Portal in 1894 the pro-
perty passed to his brother, who sold
the lond to the Sierra Club in 1912
{41) Parsons Memorial Lodae was
built in 1915 and has provided a resi-
ing spot for Sierrg Club members to
the present day. (39)

Tuslumne Mecdows Lodge was
opened a year loter by the Desmond
Pork Company ond is currently oper:
ated by the Yosemite Park and Curry
Co. In oddition to the Lodge there is
now a store, restaurant and service
station cperated by the concessioner
plus Mational Pork Service ranger
stations and campgrounds and a small
museum. For the first few years of
operation of the Tioga Road as a Park
route, the Park entrance station was in
the meadows; it has since been moved
to Tioga Poss.

The East Side

Even before the Great Sierra Wagon

Rood was completed, suggestions and

surveys for routes down the eostern
escarpment of the Sierra had been
made. At first only horse trails over
the Mt. Warren divide ond down
Bloody Canyen connected the Tioga
mines with the Mono valley. In 1899
the California Department of High
ways urged the building of on eost
side link in the Tioga route "to maoke
Yosemite Valley, the high Sierras, and
Lake Tahoe more attroctive and acces
sible.” A bill, autheorizing appropria-
tions for construction of the section
was passed by the California legisla
ture in 1897, but did not become low
because of a technical error. Highwoy
engineers recommended the Lee Yin
ing Creek route as the best and esti
mated construction costs for a 16 fool
rondbed at $30,000. (76)

Maonies were forthcoming in 189%
and the Tioga Pass - Lee Yining ling
was selected. Construction began threa
years later. (77) By 1905 all but the
five miles east of the pass haod been
finished. The cost — $3%.000, Ona
bid of $23,86]1 was received for the
remaining section but wark was des
loyed until an "understanding with
the owners of the Tioga Road proper,
regarding their non-resumption of the
collection of toll” could reached,
(78)



The Sierra Club Balletin of 1909
red, "The new State road from
Lake to Tiega Loke was com-
sted lost summer and is reported to
‘a monument to the skill of the
enginesrs. It has a maximum
fide of seven per cent, and is o good
gd for outomcebiles. The old Tioga
gd (not now available to autos) |

buld be repaoired without deluy, so
ito afford one of the most wonderful
-mountain trips in the world." (79)
in 1210 Yosemite Mational Park
fets show the Tioga route as a
lBugh road to the east, despite the
5uperm’rendents warning thur
“'rood is in wretched condition.’
s Irl 1913 the California State en-
ter, askm? if the Tioga Road was
pridition for truvei noted that the
'side road is 'in EHCe”Em shape'",
or Littebrant's reply was that “the
i1 Road through Yosemite MNational
__is impassable except for saddle
A pls.” (B1) (82)

Hng 1939 and '40 the Lee Vining
 between Tioga Pass and Loke
W was widened and realigned ot o
taf $78,000. “The completion of

LeeVining Conyon and the LeeVining Grade, looking toward Mono Craters

this improvement is regarded locally
as one of the highlights of the BO
years of maon's strungle agoinst the
barrier of the Sierra ot this crossing,”
(83) The State’'s plans for the Lee
Wining grade include realignment and
widening. (B4)

Automobiles Arrive

Prior to 1913, even if the Tioga
Rood had been passable, autos could
not have been driven legally within
the national park. On August 16, 1913
the first auto permit was issued by
Ranger F. 5. Townsley, the car drove
inta the Yosemite Valley via the Coul-
terville Road (the only one open fo
gutos! and was promptly chained fo o
tree. (6, BS5, B6) According to Townsley,
auto travel begon in earnest in 1914
despite the maore thon &0 separate
regulations aimed at limiting vehicular
troffic in the pork. Mot only wos one-
way traffic the rule, but strict schedules
had to be met. Fines of 50 cents per
minute were assessed the hapless driver
who dawled along the way. (86) Top
speed permitted, on straight stretches
only, was 10 miles per hour, with



Tuolumne Meadows, 1915, from o 1213
Pieree Arrow Touring Car, One of Firest
ta Travel the Tiege Read

& m.p.h. as the limit where curves were
evident. (87)

In January 1715, Stephen T. Math-
er, on enthusiatic booster of auto
travel in the MNational Parks. accepted
the post of Assistont to the Secretary
of the Interigr. One of his first con-
cerns in the new job was to make park
travel easier. ""A cash primer was
called for to set the process off. Mather
thought absaut this and hod a familiar
reaction, He hauled out his check-
bool. For g curtain-raiser to his park's
administration he wanted to make
some noise — preferably in Yosemite,
which had high hopes for 1915, Cali-
fornia being set for two “internaticnal
expositions.” 'Caosting. about faor an
idea, he remembered the Ticgo Roaod,
a broken-down eost-west thorough-
fare, fifty-six miles long {ond privately
owned) that bisected the park. Since
the Tiogao Rood waos the only potentiol
automobile route across the 270 mile

48

smnru Puns “south af Lnlm Tuhoa, its
resurrection would be both beneficiol
and widely acclaimed. Mather thought
about all this and then began to show
agn inner turmoll, @ charocteristic
mark of his approach to a weighty de-
cision. He gave the impression of being
carbongted.

“"His aossociates were startled, but
when they learned what wos gurgling
in him, they politely pointed out thot
the gavernment could not make repairs
on a rood it did not own, and even ||
it could, i would not. Il buy thy
road, have it repaired myself, ond do|
nate it to the government,” soid
Mather, They smiled. The Unirmj
States of America is npf a universit
or charity foundetion. Giving thingl
to the government wos olmest as sus
pect as making baonk deposits fo Thi
agccount of a Cabinet officer or placing
a bomb under a Senator’s front porch
Congress must examine and pass upor
every gift. “All right,’" said Mather
"My motives are pure.’” He hoad {
speclal provision drafted for the Ap
propriations Committee authorizin
the Secretary of the Interior to accep
arty danations of money, land righl
of way, etc, for the national parld
That, he did nat doubt for a mamer|
would do it. Fitzgerald surprised hir
The Congressman, sure that only |
black-hearted briber would want |
donate something to the governrmenl
tore the provision ue

“Mather hoad to look for help to th
California Senator James D. Phela
ond to an old Chicage friend, Cof
aressman William Kent, then of Kerd
field, California, The two Californion
with some difficulty, rmanaged |
wheedle Fitzgerald inte relaxing lon
enough to approve a limited provisig
covering gifts to Yosemite, settid
Mather free finally to go chead on tf
Tioga Road, which, he learned, carril
a purchase price of $15 500, He ma|
up his mind to roise as much of th
os he could by subscription and to cd
tribute the bolance himself."" (BB)

Calling upon his friends, Matl
began to accumulate the purchq
price. Julius Rosenwald, a Chicq

Yost il



- and
Club collected ﬂbﬂut 515 000.
* donated the balance. (B8)
arranged for the Tuolumne
¥ Surveyor to begin clearing of
-_,ﬁ road and asked William E.
. his friend and fellow Sierrg
te purchase the road from
ft estate os Mather, being o
nment employee, was not in a
lon: to donate the roaod to the
8 States. (89) Awuthorization to
the rood came from Congress
larch 3, 1915 and forrmal title was
fferred to the US. on April 10,
B for o consideration of $10, (0]
ather next organized the first of
@rmous ‘mountain trips’’, outings
gned to convince the influential or
ithy participants of the need for
g and better National Parks,
irt Shanklond’s description of the
p's ride up the Lee Vining grade
their way to the dedication of the
30 Rood is a clossic comment on
b stretch of the highway, “Coming
t the Lee Vining Roaod, they fol-

RST DEDICATIOM OF TIOGA ROAD

oh unfehud

two thousand feet, Local men were
at the wheels, and the one handling
the open Studebaker that contained
E. 0. McCormick, Emersen Hough,
ond Horgece Albright hod not wet,
though a native, become bored with
the scenery. He would glace ahead
brietly to gouge the curves, then rise
from his seat, twist around, stare off
over the grisly precipice into the dis-
tance, and, with a hand he kept free
for the purpose, point cut features of
the landscagpe. McCarmick, up front,
was mute with terror. In the rear, safe-
side door open, Albright and Hough
sat erouched te leap. Albright was
trying to keep one hand on the open
door and one foof on the running
board and at the same time hold off
Hough, who was clawing at him and
hoarsely whispering over and over.
"a . _d  that scenery-loving
cuss, G d_ that scenery-loving
cuss!” To their surprise, however, they
made the top of the range. There
Mather formally dedicated the Tiogg
Road to public use, breaking o cham-

- Stephen Maother is shown breaking the christening bottle

515,000 rock representing the purchaso price of the rood. Those shown were ot the dedication:
- Chde Seavy, California State Board of Contral: Horarce Albright, Assistant Director, Maotionaol
rvice; W, Gilletfe Scott, Inya County outo enthusinst ond rond promoter; E. 0. McCormick,

Pacific Railroad; Mdi‘her, Congressman F. H, Gillett; Chief Geographer Robert B. Marshall,

_. Geological Survey; Dr. Guy P, Doyle, Bishop; Dr. ). 5. McQueen, Inyo County; Dr. Henry Fair-
\Osborne, American Museum of Matural History; Dr. Simmons, Sacramento,

d}np-cffa? ns eniick B




pagne bottle filled with Pacific Ocean
water at a spot where it would flow
both east and west. The night was
spent camping with the Sierra Club at
Tuolumne Meadows, aond the next
morning the party started on its final
run, to the Yosemite Vaolley, It broke
up there on Thursday, July 29." (88)

The 1915 report of the superinten-
dent of national parks noted that the
Tioga Road had been acquired, was be-
irig rehabilitated this summer and was
formally opened July 28. "When same
has been put in shape it will be the
mest popular pass for transcontinental
tourists through the Sierra Mevada...”
(91) During the 1915 season 190 cars
entered the park via Tiocga Pass and
the comment was made that a visitor
to the park could now travel 260 miles
of road, at elevations ranging from
2,000 to 10,000 feet, for the $5.00
entrance fee. (92)

The following year 578 westhound
autos checked in at Tuolumne Mead-
ows. (93) After more than $%30,000
had been spent rehabilitating the old
mining road it became apparent that
the route needed o thorough recon-
struction, with some realignment, to
bring mogintenance costs down to o
reasonable level. Mather asked Con-
gress for $75,000 (94) The money
not forthcoming, park officials began
maintaining the road as best they
could,

Gabriel Sovulewski's Construction
reports, 1916 to 1922 (95), helps us
re-create the tremendous task of keep-
ing the undoubtedly decrepit road in
shape for aufo travel. In 1916 24 men
and 2 teams of horses were assigned
to the road which was "in many places
badly washed . . . (with half mile sec-
tions) . . . almost destroyed by dan-
gerous washouts.” Yosemite Creek
bridge waos gone and was replaced by
a “permanent” structure. In addition
mare than 30 trees were down ocross
the rood between Tenaoya Loke and
Tuolumne Meadows, By the end of
the season the roadway was placed “in
very good condition considering the
state in which it wos found in the
spring . . ."” The public speaks "'very
highly of the rark roads, and there
has been nothing but praise for the

Tioga Road, though conditions are
from satisfactory and not as we wol
like to have them.”

During the 1918 opening 13
pounds of powder was used to b
150 trees off a five mile section of
road. Later that season damage f
thunder storms was frequent and ¢
ly, nearly $6,000 being spent to k
the road passable,

By August of 1922 Sovulewski ¢
sidered the road in excellent conditi
However, severe storms that fall u
all the work and soon it was evi
that the road was being destro
"faster than we could keep up
repairs.”” There was no question n
there must be realignment and rec
struction. Preliminary plans were |
in the late "20s, but the job would
be complete until 1941. Meanw
the road was in ever-increasing

Entrance stations were set up
Tuolumne Meadows and Aspen Va
in 1918. In the same vear a Califr
Matorise article proised the road |
reproduced a map showing 20 per ¢
grades near May Laoke. Top speed
straight stretches was 20 mph,
reductions to 8 mph when ascend
and 12 mph when descending hills, (

Steve Mather's annual report
1918 praised the road in no uncert
terms. “Again last summer did
Tioga Road amply justified its p
chase and presentation to the pd
system. Again did it prove the ne
and popularity of a motor gateway
the upper wilderness . . , Fifty or si
automebiles a day traveled the Tig
Road last season” with many dri
making the complete trip to L
Tahoe. "It will be noticed thai
semnite Natioral Park as a park, thal
without any special consideration
use of the Yosemite Valley, also se
to be coming into its own. This |
good sian.'" (97)

The Tioga Road gained popula
throughout the 1920s. Each sum
the opening of the road was atte
by fish fries and celebrations with |
dignitaries in attendance, (98) F
about 1925 onward on intense inte
in earlier opening dates, maostly on
gurt of nessg from east of

AR . uperin L




Bus Travel Over Tioga to Loke Tohoo Bocame Popular in the 1920s

I



Stephen T. Mather ond W. B. Lewis
studying Road Location in 1925,

were cautious, replying that early
openings were too costly when consid-
ered in terms of the price of snow
rermoval and increased maointenaonce.
(100)

Newspaper and magazine ads of
the dov, as well as government pro-
duced leaflets, entreated every citizen
ta visit his notional parks and especial-
Iy to travel ''the world's greatest moun-
tgin tour through Yosemite to Laoke
Tahoe." (29) The finest accommoda-
tions were avaoilable on the route as
well as comfortable campsites and ex-
cellent trout streams. (101)

Everything was not as advertised,
however, “All motorists with camping
outfits are cbliged to undress com-
pletely and be fumigated for a full
hour,” Hoof and mouth disecse had
struck California and the foregoing
applied to those heading into Mevada
from points west, The circular to all
park personnel continued, ""This in-

formation should be given to those in
quiring regarding conditions along th
road. Giving of this information
bound to result in discouraging frave
east of Tioga Pass!" (102)

Another, not quite so personal faoc
tor was beginning to discourage trave
over the Tioga Rood. The nation
highwoys were being improved an
exponded at an amazing rate and th
motering public was becoming accu
tomed to smooth well paved thoroug
fares with high gear grades and ec
curves. The Tiogo Rood was nof sud
o route. |t remcined an all-dirt ro
until 1937. It was as Gabriel Sovule:
ski put it, “only an old-fashioned woc
road, "

Reconstruction

As early as 1925 consideration h
been given te realignment and reco
struction of the Tisga Road. In th
year Director Mather visited Yosemi
to walk-ouf suggested routes with Pa
Superintendent Charles G, Thomso
(103) In the years following vario
route were studied and rejected, wif
the Parle Service submitfing each |
detailed review by conservationist
engineers and other interested group

Among the consulting groups wi
the Yosemite Adwvizsory Board wh
three members were imminently qua
fied to pass judgement cn the variol
proposals:  Chairman of the Boa
Frederic Law Olmsted, whose fothé
the ''Father of American Landsco
Architecture,"” was instrumental in |
setting aside of the Yosemite Gro
was in his own right a world fan
landscape architect, an expert on pal
end park development and former o
ector of the California State Park 5
vey. (A preminent averlosk on the n
rood hos been called Olmsted Vie
The second member of the Board, [
can McBDutfie, had served as Chairn
of the California State Parks Coun
was past president of the Sierra C
and recipient of the Cornelius An
Pugsley medal for Americon 5S¢
and Historic Preservation. Profe
John P, Buwalda, geologist and
partmental chairman at Califernio
stitute of Technology, was the mer
af the group perhops best able to
vise m%h! Yosemite landscape, h




- considerable scientific study in
[+ +I- =Ll
_,15’32 a preliminary field survey
mode and the tentotive route
ked ond declared open for inspec-
Eﬂvernl field trips were made by
gsted groups and by 1935 there
g&nerol agreement, including the
brrence of the Sierra Club (104},
l‘ﬂ"le present route of the fecrlfgned
8 Food would be the one followed:
rnr.:lp )
anwhile, work had begun on the
f8rn ond western sections, |n 1932
ffrocts were awarded for construc-
B of the Tioga Pass to Fairview
pe  section. Funds for the job,
30,000, were allocated from monies
wed from San  Francizco aos
al” for the Hetch Hetchy area
| Fifty thousand dollars from
Bame source was to be made avail-
‘for the Crane Flat to White Wolf
ign, with work to begin in the
g of 1935, (107)
Wving of the 11.6 mile stretch of
new Tioga Road from Cathedral
ik through Tuolumne Meadows to
B Poss was completed in the fall

KA

L to r, W. E Colby, F

Youemite Advisary Board, 1953, with Supt, John C, Preston
L. Olmutud, Mr, Preston, J. P. Buwalda

af 1937 and for the first time in its
history the one-time wagon road had
a dustless section, (108) During 1938
the 21 mile McSwain Meadow [White
Welf intersection) to Cathedral Peak
section of the unchanged bed of the
Great Sierra Wagon Read was oiled
for the first time, (109) and with the
completion of 14.5 miles of new road
between Crane Flot ond MeSwain
Meadows on July 18, 193%, an erg
had ended. (110} Although nearly a
quarter-cenftury would elapse before
the 21 mile central section of the old
road was replaced, clouds of dust no
longer obscured the vistas or irritated
the odventuresome motorist,

Clouds of a different sort oppeared
on the horizon, World War || broughit
to a halt the further develepment of
the road. Lack of maintenance funds
during wartime caoused the closing to
the public of the Aspen Valley section
ot the old rood.

A couple of "war stories” bear re-
peating. After the rood was closed for
the winter in 1942, a man with his wife
and three children managed to plow
his car through the drifts, after




breaking the Tioga Pass gote. He was
met by a ranger at Crane Flat and it
was decided the best course of action
for disobeying the road closure was to
have the visitor return to the pass in
his own c¢ar and repair the gote, a
round-trip of 148 miles, “The visitor
had intended to drive through the park
without stopping, but he became so
delighted with the trip bock over the
Ticga Road that he decided to stay in
the park for several days longer,
Ranger Givens, who accompanied the
man to Tioga Pass, states that the man
was a real lover of the mountains and
that he enjoyed his punishment im-
mensely, Nat only wos he tought re-
spect for park regulations, but it is
certain that this punishment left
nothing but good will for the Park
Service in his mind." (111)

After o hiatus of more than 50
yvears, cattle again were driven over
the Tioga Road in 1943, Permission
had been granted because rubber and
gasoline shortoges made truck frans-
portation of the Aspen Valley herds
an impossibility. (112}

Post War Developments

Following World War |l travel to
the parks resumed its upward trend
and by 1950 use of the Tioga Road
had increcsed more than 30 per cent
above the pre-war level. Correspon-
dence increased, too, both favoring
and condemning the middle 21 miles
of the Tioga route. While some feared
damage to the park's scenic values
would result if the route agreed upon
in 1935 was built, many more feared
the old rood itself and worried about
the more personal damage to them-
selves or their cars while negotiating
the "horse-drawn’’ alignment of the
remaining section of the Great Sierro
Wagon Road.

The latter point of view became
dominant w©s the travel picture
changed. Larger cars and increased
use of house and comping trailers
made the old road a nightmare for
many drivers and passengers alike,

The American Automobile Associo-
tion warned, "It is not unusual to find
people . . . unused to mountain roads,
who just go to pieces, freeze at the

of the rood to wait for the Park Rot
gers or a kindly motorist to drive the
cars the rest of the way.” (115) An
such was the none too happy pictul|
on many a crowded summer day.

The general tenor of the many con
plaints being received was that
road was not only frightening fo dri
but waos completely unsafe, a trip o
it being tantamount to committing s
cide, The facts do not bear this out.
actuality accidents on the old 21 mi
section were so few that '‘a statisti
analysis is all but impossible.
records are not complete for the eo
days of use, but it is believed that
lives have been lost on the narrn
highway since automobile travel
initiated in 1915." The primary pr
lems were road joms on steep slo
due to vapor lock, "dented fende
house-trailers caught between tre
mechanical failures and the overhe
ing of many people's tempers whe
speed of 20 miles per hour was cli
to their experience cn a narrew mo
tain highway.” (116}

Other complaints were more o
sonable and to the point. “"While
tectly safe [since one must drive
slowly), it imposes undue anxiety
the driver.” {113} | feel this rood

. . unsafe for inexperienced drive
(114} An experienced driver sum
up the general feeling against the r
thusly, “These 21 miles are the m
exasperating | have ever driven. |
personally guarantee there isn't
trickier road anywhere. It is o g
deal like a roller coaster, only roug
But if your car's in good shape
vou are confident of your driving s
it you are looking for an adventu
route and breathtaking scenery, the
no better place to find them than al
the Tioga Pass Road.” (115)

If the Tioga Road was to adequa
serve the public it needed imme
improvement, Although the rou
haod been long approved, World W
deloyed action and considerable
cussion was to ensue before const
tion began,

During the late 1940s and
'50s, a series of alternate routes
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via Ten Laokes and the north and
lopes of Mt. Hoffmann was sup-
d by the Sierra Club. The Park
& ogain sought the advice of
pst experts in the Field,
lliam E. Colby, an esteemed San
Isco lawyer, noted conservationist
erra Club officer, in concert with
{ Yosemite Advisory Board mem-
I P. Buwalda and Duncan Me-
8 replied, “This is a subject to
| the Yosemite Advisory Board
given very careful consideration
@ long period of years. The pro-
‘to route the road north of Polly
 is, in our opinion, a grave mis-
‘becouse it would intrude a road
in area that is now and will re-
 wilderness in character if the
5 not built."” The Board endorsed
Park Service's original plan
ght.
tordingly, it was determined that
mile central section of the
| Road would follow the route as
ged by the Service and as strong-
orsed by the Yosemite Advisory
i, There remained, however, the
on of standards—what would be
most opproprigte  construction
grds for the new central section
tho would be the best qualified
I to undertake this study? Direc-
rth was able to secure the serv-
ithe country’s most outstandin
ity in this field in the person o
L. Huber. Mr. Huber was not
noted consulting engineer and
gsicdent of the American Society
I Engineers, but a nationally
zed autherity in the field of
@tion, He was a former presi-
U the Sierra Club and present
in of the National Parks Ad-
Board. Mr. Huber had often
Hed to advise State and Federal
8 contemplating construction
etic considerations were im-

b field and office studies Mr.
iclvised, "1 feel that the Tioga
ad is and must remain essen-
park road. For this purpose |
the 20 foot width of pave-

be s.u_tia.fuc'l'ﬂl‘?, I'-.‘q A L ol

mend that the 3'0" shoulder on either
side of the pavement be widened to
4'00". | note that this is to be a stabil-
ized base native grass shoulder.” |
hope this specification will be retained
with insistence’ otherwise, shoulders
are soon coated and from the motor-
ists’ viewpaoint look the same as pave-
ment; thus we have in effect a 24 foot
pavement without shoulders and once
the motorist is over the edge he is
often in trouble.” He approved the
Fark Service standards on the remain-
der of the road, i.e., 2 foot shoulders.
(117) These recommendations were
accepted by National Park Service and
Bureau of Public Roads officials and
were incorporated in the final road
plans. (119)

Actual construction began in 1957,
with contracts let that year for clear-
ing and grading 6 miles on the west
end of the 21 mile section and 4.5
miles of the easterrmost portion. (121)
At that time the total cost of re-doing
the 21 mile section was estimated at
$4,658,000. (120)

Preservation of scenic values was
uppermost in the minds of all con-
nected with the project. If slight re-
alignment would save an unusual
natural feature — an ancient juniper,
a lodgepole pine grove or glacial er-
ratic boulder — the change was usual-
ly made. (121)

At this time Director Wirth pointed
out, “There were changes made in the
plans for the Tiogo Road which took
into consideration several of the sug-
gestions made by the conservation
pecple . . . | think the final decision
was a good decision which took into
consideration the many problems con-
fronting us. No rood ever recanstruct-
ed in the Mational Parks has had the
detailed study and consideration that
has been given to the Tioga Road. The
route and standards were under in-
tense study for 31 vears . . ' (122)
(123) Associate Director E. T. Scoven
summed up, "When the debris of con-
struction operations is cleaned up and
the project fully completed, | am sure
there will be virtually unanimous ap-
proval of this rood which is d&siFned
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Clouds Rest and Half Dome from Olmsted View

land . . . | am sure that hundreds of
thousands in future years will be
thankful for this opportunity to receive
enjoyment and inspiration from super-
lative scenery.” (125)

During the winter with construc-
tion halted, plans were completed and
bids were let and accepted for the re-
maining 10 miles of the 21 mile sec-
tion. (118)

The full 21 mile central section was
completed and ctficially opened to the
public on June 24, 1941, The cost was
$5,491,000. The cost of the western
and eastern sections was $1,450,000,
ar a total cost of $6,941 000 for the
46 miles from Crane Flat to Tioga
Pass.

The Ticga Road Today

The Tiocga Read today is the most
scenic route in all California and one
of the most outstanding park roads in
the entire Mational Park System. [t
hos been carefully designed and built
to display the dramatic park values of
the Sierra Mevada. The road is the
highest trans-Sierra crossing with an
elevation of 6,192 feet at Crane Flat
and reaching 9,945 feat 46 miles later
at Tioga Pass. It is designed for lei-
sure travel {commercial trucking is not

34

permitted), with numerous turnou
and overlooks where the park wvisit
moy stop in safety to enjoy the sups
scenery. At each of these vista poin
the visitor will find interpretive sig
which introduce and acquaint him wi
that which he views. The Interpreti
texts, which have been carefully pr
pared by the park’s naturalist sto
have met a hearty welcomea from Pa
visitors. |n some instances short log
nature trails lead from the vista poi
to give the visitor o further opportuni
to explore nature,

Sections of the old Tioga Road ha
been retained “'as is" far those lov
of the old west who like to get owd
from the main route. One such sectl
leaves the new road just east of 1
White Walf intersection and win
and twists five miles down to Yosemi
Creek where the visitor will find t
same primitive quality campgrou
which has served travelers on the ¢
Ticga Road since it was first construd
ed. An additional two mile section
the old road climbs via Snow Flat
the May Lake Trail Junction. Ot
shorter sections still serve the pri
tive compgrounds along the old roo
all of which have been retained.
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TIOGA ROAD

2|
1
! Open Clase Mo. Autos Over Poss®
4 July 28 ? Approx- 350
! July 14 October 2 &84
Y July 20 Movember 2 1,442
July 6 2 1,792
July latter part) Movember ? 1,955
i July iprior to Sth) Movermber 8 1,821
| July 14 ? 2,549
? 7 2,297
. July 5 Maovember ? 3,426
! May 2% Crctober ? 3272
June 30 Ocrober (late) 7,389
June 5 2 11,776
? ? 10,115
Jure 14 S 14,265
June 5 December 9 13,292
June 17 Movember 14 13,571
May 18 Mevember 13 18,674
Jure 28 Movember 30 10,955
June 22 Movember 28 11,111
May 10 Mowvember 15 14,618
Jupe 17 Maovember 2 14,030
June 19 December 14 15,818
June 18 Movember 11 15,554
July & Octaber 30 12,788
& May B December 10 15,23%
June B Movember 3 15,895
June 20 October 20 17,804
June 27 Mevember 3 8,090
Jurne 26 Movemnber 1% 5,432
June 26 Crctober 31 4,476
Jupe 23 Qctober 29 14,738
June B Movember B 33,749
May 24 Movember | 45,671
June 10 Movember 27 41,545
May 28 Maovember @ £8 965
Moy 20 October 24 46,851
May 26 Cetober 23 54,662
June 21 Movemnber 13 56,162
Moy 23 Movember 14 65,213
May 26 Movember 14 63,758
Moy 28 Movember 13 59,416
June 16 Qcrober 23 71,464
May 25 Movember 2 81,881
June 22 Mevember 14 68,918
Moy 13 Pecember 13 B4 664
May 21 Movember 3 21,618

Opened on April 21,
closed a.m. 22 April
Recpened on 26 Agril
d plus Westbound







